RECEIVED

Feb 10 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Pickens County

Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JONATHAN R. RACKLEY,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-001141

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the court erred by excluding evidence the decedent had methamphetamines in her bloodstream since this evidence of drug use was relevant, and its exclusion was highly prejudicial since there was no motive for appellant to kill his new decedent girlfriend and her drug use was probative as to whether the decedent may have accidentally shot herself or committed suicide as the defense purported where appellant told the police he awoke to the sound of a gunshot, and that he did not know how the decedent was shot?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Pickens County grand jury for the offenses of murder and possession of a weapon during a violent crime. R. 528. His case was called to trial on September 20, 2021, before the Honorable G.D. Morgan Jr., and a jury. Aaron Francis De Bruin represented appellant. Shannon Swords Odom and Seth Redus Johnson were the assistant solicitors. R. 1.

On September 24, 2021, the jury found appellant guilty as charged. R. 525, ll. 7-12. Judge Morgan sentenced appellant to fifty years imprisonment for murder and imposed a five year consecutive sentence for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 526, ll. 4-13.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (“quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). “ An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id.; see also State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

"Relevant evidence" means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence. See Rule 401, SCRE. “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” Rule 403, SCRE; State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 401 S.E.2d 146 (1991).

ARGUMENT

The court erred by excluding evidence the decedent had methamphetamines in her bloodstream since this evidence of drug use was relevant, and its exclusion was highly prejudicial since there was no motive for appellant to kill his new decedent girlfriend and her drug use was probative as to whether the decedent may have accidentally shot herself or committed suicide as the defense purported where appellant told the police he awoke to the sound of a gunshot, and that he did not know how the decedent was shot.

Introduction

Jason Trammell went to high school with the decedent, Jamie Scruggs. Jason said that Scruggs was a friend “of my wife.” R. 21, ll. 12-20. Jason met appellant Jonathan Rackley through the decedent, and he was with them both in the hours before the decedent’s death. Jason recalled that they were “love struck, you know. They were enjoying each other’s company.” R. 22, ll. 111-20.

They were socializing the day before the decedent’s death in the “Shed” or “outbuilding” behind appellant’s home on a dead-end street in rural Easley, South Carolina. There were about seven other homes on this dead end road. R. 22, l. 21 – 23, l. 6.

Jason estimated he left appellant’s house at about 9:30 that evening. Jason confirmed on cross-examination that appellant and the decedent were happy in each other’s company, and they were flirtatious with each other. R. 23, l. 1 – 24, l. 25.

Ricky Scruggs married the decedent in 2012. However, a house fire in 2016 left the decedent burned on about twenty percent of her body. She suffered depression as a result of her injuries that led to the couple separating in June of 2018. R. 11, l. 13 – 12, l. 7.

Scruggs remained friendly with the decedent after they separated. R. 12, ll. 16-25. Scruggs noted the decedent had her personal “struggles.” There would “be good somedays and bad somedays, just depending on the mood.” R. 12, l. 16 – 14, l. 8.

Scruggs knew there were other men involved in the decedent’s life at the time of her death. Specifically, he had heard the decedent mention appellant’s name. R. 14, ll. 14-19.

As will be seen infra, there was never any motive established for why appellant would want to shoot the decedent especially given their new relationship which seemed to all to be going swimmingly.

Barry Edwards was also a friend of the appellant. Edwards was with appellant and the decedent in the hours before the decedent’s death. Edwards also said appellant and the decedent were having fun that evening. R. 34, ll. 10-12.

Edwards estimated he left appellant and the decedent together in appellant’s “Shed” or outbuilding at about 11:30 that evening. He remembered appellant later called him, but he missed the first call. Edwards sent appellant a text message that said, “what’s up?” Appellant texted back: “911”. R. 35, ll. 1-7; R. 533. Edwards confirmed that appellant and the decedent were good friends, they were friendly with each other that fateful evening, and that he did not witness any argument between them. R. 40, ll. 8-13.

Kaleigh S. was a teenage girl – about 13-years-old who lived on the property next to appellant’s house in rural Easley, South Carolina. Kaleigh remembered in the early morning hours of July 13, 2013, around 1 o’clock or 1:30 she was watching videos on her phone when she heard a gunshot. She said her friend, Riley, messaged her on Snapchat and asked, “Did you hear that?”. R. 51, l. 3 – 52, l. 18. Kaleigh said she looked out the back door and she saw “flashlights

going back and forth.” The police had apparently already arrived at the time Kaleigh looked out her back door. R. 52, l. 19 – 56, l. 20.

Kaleigh confirmed she did not hear any arguing before hearing the gunshot. The only voices she heard came after the gunshot. R. 57, ll. 9-24.

Riley B. was the other teenage girl who lived next door to Kaleigh. R. 59, l. 24 – 64, l. 16. Riley remembered she was up late that evening of the gunshot playing in her room, watching television, listening to music and relaxing. She maintained she heard two voices and characterized it as an argument. She said she began texting her friend Kaleigh around this time and they heard a gunshot after that. R. 65, l. 5 – 70, l. 12.

On cross-examination Riley said she could not remember if she told the police at the time that she heard arguing before and after the gunshot. Riley confirmed she was only thirteen years old at the time of this incident. R. 75, ll. 3-23.

Appellant’s mother, Angela Rackley, confirmed that the outdoor building or “Shed” on her property “turned into a hangout” for appellant and his friends. R. 95, ll. 7-16. Angela said there was a refrigerator in the building, and a radio. Appellant and his friends would sit outside, drink beer, and socialize. R. 98, ll. 9-24.

Angela remembered that Barry and Nicole Edwards left at about 11:30 p.m. that evening. Afterwards Angela checked on appellant and the decedent in the outdoor building. “They were fine” and drinking beer. Angela told appellant she was going to bed. Appellant responded “Well, I’m not ready to come in yet.” Angela told him she would leave the back door unlocked for him. R. 101, l. 11 – 103, l. 7.

Angela went inside the house and laid down on the couch with the television on as was her normal practice. She heard a loud bang that she thought was a firecracker at first. R. 103, l. 1 – 104, l. 7.

Angela said after she heard the loud bang, she saw a car “going [down the] driveway fast.” R. 104, ll. 19-23. The solicitor immediately interrupted Angela and told her that neither of her statements to the police mentioned a car leaving at a high speed. R. 105, ll. 3-25. Angela explained “that night was so crazy” and that she was unsure of exactly when things occurred. R. 105, l. 3 – 108, l. 2.

Angela remembered when she approached the outbuilding after hearing the loud noise: “I hear Jonathan crying out for help.” R. 107, l. 24 – 110, l. 15. Angela saw appellant trying to help the decedent by applying a towel to her head and putting pressure on her gunshot wound. R. 110, l. 8 – 112, l. 3.

Angela told appellant to “call 911.” Appellant responded: “They are going to think I did it. And - - but he did open a phone to do it, but his hands were shaking so bad he couldn’t.” So, Angela then called 911 from her phone. R. 112, l. 2 – 114, l. 6. Angela said the decedent was still alive at this point, breathing and groaning. The decedent was trying to talk to Angela, but she was unable to do so. R. 114, ll. 1-20.

Angela remembered appellant, her son, mentioning a “stray bullet.” Angela explained this was “a crazy situation, a dire situation” and they were all upset about whatever happened. R. 115, l. 2 – 123, l. 19.

Angela told the 911 operator: “It had to be an accident. He would never do that.” R. 123, ll. 1-25. Angela confirmed that the appellant and decedent were not arguing that night before she heard the gunshot. R. 124, ll. 1-20. They were both in “good spirits.” R. 124, ll. 1-2.

Angela remembered the police captain who first arrived at their house was very angry, irate and he wanted appellant arrested. R. 129, ll. 1-7. Angela explained that she made things up to tell the 911 operator because the operator seemed obsessed with interrogating her about appellant rather than getting an ambulance to the scene to help the decedent. R. 129, l. 14 – 131, l. 1.

Pickens County Sheriff's Deputy Brandon Morris was dispatched to appellant's property on July 13, 2019, at approximately 2:10 a.m. R. 133, l. 19 – 135, 19. He was met by appellant's mother, Angela Rackley. Deputy Morris remembered Angela was upset. She told him that appellant was in the outbuilding behind the mobile home. R. 135, l. 15 – 136, l. 18.

Morris found appellant standing over the decedent -- he was very upset: "He's just screaming to me and Deputy Bolt to get her some help." R. 137, ll. 1-9. Morris explained that the first responsibility of the police when they respond to a shooting scene was to secure the scene so that EMS could safely arrive and render aid to the victim. R. 137, l. 1 – 138, l. 14.

Morris said that appellant was so upset and yelling for them to help the decedent that they had to place him in handcuffs and detain him. Everything had to be stable for EMS to come onto the scene. R. 138, l. 6 – 140, l. 7.

Sara Goodman was a SLED DNA analyst. Goodman testified that the blood found on the weapon showed there was a very substantial likelihood that the decedent's DNA was on the gun. R. 162, l. 12 – 164, l. 23. Goodman said that three DNA profiles from the grip of the 9mm pistol showed the decedent, appellant, and an unrelated third individual had touched the weapon which contributed to the mixture of the DNA. R. 165, l. 9 – 166, l. 9.

Goodman acknowledged it was possible that the decedent "manipulated" the weapon by touching it and that resulted in her leaving her DNA on the gun. R. 170, ll. 10-25.

Deputy Nick Bolt also testified that appellant was yelling for the deputies to get help for the decedent when they arrived. The decedent was bleeding badly at the time, and she was having trouble breathing. R. 177, l. 3 – 178, l. 19; 186, ll. 13-22.

Chief Deputy Chad Brooks remembered a search warrant was obtained in those early morning hours for the property. While the search warrant was being executed he recalled seeing freshly washed clothes inside the washing machine in the outbuilding. Brooks also opened the cabinet door above the washing machine and that is where he noticed the pistol. R. 203, l. 6 – 208, l. 13. Brooks testified that there was a “red substance” on the gun that he assumed was blood. R. 208, ll. 2-13.

As to the possibility that appellant changed his clothes Deputy Brett Barwick said all he knew was that there was freshly washed clothes in the washing machine. He could not say how long the clothes had been in washing machine or to whom they belonged. R. 236, ll. 6-25. Regardless, Barwick confirmed the clothes were not taken into evidence. R. 236, l. 6 – 240, l. 17; 285, l. 2 – 286, l. 17.

The pathologist, Dr. Grace Dukes, testified that the decedent died of gunshot wound to the head. She opined the decedent’s death was a homicide rather than a suicide because no gun was recovered near her body and that the decedent did not have a known history of suicidal ideation. R. 303, ll. 1-24. Dr. Dukes testified in her opinion the shooting was also not an accident. R. 314, ll. 3-24.

On cross-examination of the pathologist in the presence of the jury the judge sustained the solicitor’s objection to defense counsel asking if the decedent had any drugs in her system. R. 316, l. 21 – 317, l. 25.

Decedent had been using meth evidence

After the testimony of the pathologist, Dr. Dukes, an in camera hearing was held on whether evidence the decedent had methamphetamines in her bloodstream should be admitted.

The solicitor first claimed that the attorneys agreed before the trial that no evidence of drug use by anyone would be admitted during the trial. Defense counsel disagreed with that assertion, and he told the trial judge that it had been agreed that no evidence of appellant's drug use would be admitted given Rule 403, SCRE. Because appellant was the defendant any evidence the defendant used drugs would be explosively prejudicial. R. 319, l. 14 – 321, l. 6.

Defense counsel reminded the judge that the decedent's DNA was found on the gun, there was evidence she had manipulated the gun, and there was evidence appellant was asleep when he heard the fatal gunshot. Defense counsel argued this evidence of the decedent's drug use was relevant because she may not have been in her normal state of mind. She may have caused her own death while under the influence. "She may have done something to herself." R. 319, l. 14 – 321, l. 6.

The judge interjected that he thought the defense also had to show "[t]hat there has to be some kind of proof that she was under the influence that would've caused her to do that. Just because she might have had meth in her system, I think that's a big leap questioning this witness to then be able to argue to the jury that there was a possibility she was under the influence without any evidence she would have been under the influence. The fact that she had meth in the system, how do you get to that next step." R. 321, ll. 7-16.

Defense counsel countered that the fact decedent had methamphetamines in her bloodstream was sufficient for its admission. Counsel argued that the state could argue that methamphetamines being in the decedent's bloodstream did not mean she was "under the

influence.” This was a weight not an admissibility issue. However, the facts were that the decedent had been using drugs and that she suffered a mysterious gunshot wound. “I think it goes to my argument that it's a possibility that she might have done this to herself.” R. 321, l. 17 – 322, l. 4.

Defense counsel offered that he could limit the evidence to the fact that the toxicology report showed the decedent had methamphetamines in her system. He could then try and tie in that the decedent was using meth that evening. R. 323, l. 10 – 324, l. 19.

The judge said that he thought evidence the decedent had meth in her system by itself would be unfairly prejudicial to the state. The judge then sustained the state's objection and granted the state's request to prevent there being any mention of the decedent having meth in her system. R. 325, l. 6 – 328, l. 25.

Jury returns

Pickens County Sheriff's Deputy Daniel Cochran acknowledged that he interviewed Jason Trammell who told him that appellant and the decedent were having a good time that fatal evening and that they were not arguing. R. 428, l. 21 – 429, l. 21. When defense counsel asked Cochran to admit that appellant denied that he shot the decedent, Cochran spat out that appellant said: “I didn't kill the bitch.” R. 446, ll. 12-15.

The solicitor argued to the jury that this statement by appellant that “I didn't kill the bitch” was strong evidence of malice. R. 480, l. 15 – 482, l. 22.

Defense counsel argued to the jury that there was no reason why appellant would have killed the decedent. R. 484, ll. 1-22. Appellant and the decedent were friends, they had just started a relationship which was always a special time. “The government has to prove that he intentionally pulled the trigger and killed her. What possible reason have you heard that would

make him intentionally pull the trigger? You didn't hear any, none whatsoever.” R. 485, l. 2 – 486, l. 13.

Defense counsel reminded the jury that appellant said he woke up to a gunshot and he thought his dog had been shot so he ran after the dog. Appellant's ears were ringing from the gunshot. R. 487, l. 7 – 488, l. 18. Appellant said this in the interrogation with the two investigators that is on file with this Court at approximately 19:20 into the interview. Defense counsel reminded the jurors that there was evidence the decedent's DNA was on the grip of the gun, that she was not familiar with guns and that the decedent may have accidentally shot herself. R. 420, ll. 7-8; (State's exhibit 58 on file with this Court); R. 495, l. 13 – 498, l. 1.

Discussion

"Relevant evidence" means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence. See Rule 401, SCRE. Evidence is relevant if it has a direct bearing upon and tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy. See State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 580 S.E.2d 785 (Ct. App. 2003). All relevant evidence is admissible. State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 538 S.E.2d 248 (2000); Rule 402, SCRE.

The standard for evidence being relevant under Rule 401, SCRE in this state is undoubtedly broad. Evidence that the decedent had been using meth, that meth was in her bloodstream – her system – was relevant since her cause of death not being a homicide, but an accident or suicide, was the heart of appellant's defense.

Here, defense counsel correctly argued to the judge the unusual character of the evidence in this murder case. There was no evidence of bad blood between appellant and his new girlfriend. They were getting along very well on the night of the murder, having fun together

and being flirtatious.¹ Appellant's statement to the police that he awoke to a gunshot and found the decedent badly wounded was repeatedly placed before the jury. Evidence that the decedent was affected in anyway by an intoxicant - - alcohol or drugs - - was relevant because the jury was correctly being called upon to consider defense alternatives to how the decedent suffered the fatal wound. These were that she accidentally shot herself or that she was attempting suicide. Evidence which assists a jury at arriving at the truth of an issue is relevant and admissible unless incompetent. See State v. Schmidt, 288 S.C. 301, 303, 342 S.E.2d 401, 403 (1986).

Further, defense counsel correctly argued that evidence being unduly prejudicial to a criminal defendant was much different from which may cast an alleged victim in a less than positive light. Further, there was other evidence, as seen above, that the decedent had suffered from depression as a result of being badly burned in a house fire. Evidence that she had methamphetamines in her bloodstream did not suggest a verdict on an improper basis and the probative value of this evidence of methamphetamine use by the decedent was not substantially outweighed by its danger of unfair prejudice to the state. See Rule 403, SCRE. State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 401 S.E.2d 146 (1991).

The evidence that the decedent had methamphetamines in her bloodstream was relevant because it made it more probative that she may have accidentally shot herself where her DNA was indeed on the grip of the gun and it also was probative as to whether she may have committed suicide. The defense offered specific reasons anchored in the facts of this case as to why this meth usage evidence by the decedent was probative and therefore admissible in

¹ The claim by one of the thirteen-year-old neighbors that she heard some alleged perfunctory "argument" before she heard a gunshot was just one state's witness claim that went against the wealth of other evidence the decedent and appellant and were getting along well at the start of their relationship that night.

appellant's defense, and the trial judge respectfully committed prejudicial error by refusing to allow the jury to hear this evidence.

CONCLUSION

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