**RECEIVED**

**Feb 22 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Pickens County  
The Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

JONATHAN R. RACKLEY,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2021-001141

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 14244

W. JOSEPH MAYE  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 100851

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

HON. W. WALTER WILKINS  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Jonathan Richard Rackley (hereinafter “Appellant”) was indicted for murder of his girlfriend, Jamie Lynn Scruggs (2019-GS-39-2090), and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2019-GS-39-2544). Appellant proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Judge G.D. Morgan, Jr., on September 20, 2021 through September 24, 2021. Appellant was represented by attorney Aaron De Bruin, Esquire. The State was represented by Assistant Solicitors Shannon Odom and Seth Johnson, of the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit Solicitor’s Office. (R. p. 1).

At the conclusion of the trial Appellant was found guilty on all indicted charges. (R. p. 525). Judge Morgan sentenced Appellant to 50 years for murder and 5 years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. The trial court ruled that these sentences were to run consecutively, totaling 55 years imprisonment. (R. p. 525; p. 526). This appeal now follows.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

### *The Crime*

Between the late night and early morning hours of July 12 and 13, 2019, Appellant was with his girlfriend Jamie Lynn Scruggs, and their friends Jason Trammel, Barry Edwards, and Alicia (Nikki) Edwards. They were hanging out together in the shed behind Appellant’s home. (R. p. 29-33; p. 21-23). The testimony of Mr. Edwards and Mr. Trammel indicated that Victim and Appellant appeared to be having a good time, were in a good mood, and were lovestruck. (R. p. 28; p. 33; p. 22). Most of the group left between the hours of 10pm and 1:03am, leaving Appellant and Victim together alone in the shed. (R. p. 23; p. 33; p. 99; p. 407). Appellant’s mother, Angela Rackley, testified that she went out to check on her son and his girlfriend and then headed to sleep. (R. p. 102).

Appellant's neighbor to the rear, Riley Bagwell, testified at trial that she heard arguing between what she believed to be a man and a woman. She described the voices as "loud", as if they were shouting. (R. p. 60; p. 66, lines 10-12). She started to text<sup>1</sup> about it with her friend, Kaleigh Stone, who is also a neighbor to Appellant. It was at that time that she heard a single gunshot. (R. p. 66-70; p. 46). She proceeded to tell her mother about the gunshot. Kaleigh Stone testified that she too heard the gunshot. (R. p. 51). The Snapchat records between the girls demonstrated that the gunshot took place at 1:51am. (R. p. 71).

Appellant's mother, Angela Rackley, testified that she was awoken by the sound of a pop that she first thought was fireworks. (R. p. 103). She testified that she waited a couple of minutes to see if more would come. She then claims to have gone to her front door where she saw a car "going up the driveway fast." <sup>2</sup> (R. p. 104). She then went out to the shed to investigate. She testified that she found her son holding a towel to Victim's head. (R. p. 109-111). She testified that she told Appellant to call 911, but that he resisted, arguing that police would think he did it. She then testified that Appellant's "hands were shaking so bad he couldn't", so she placed the 911 call herself. (R. p. 112). Records show that the 911 call was placed at 1:58am by a female caller. (R. p. 149; p. 85). Records also showed that Appellant hands were not shaking too much to call his friend Barry at 1:55am, followed by an exchange of texts with Barry at 1:56am, and followed further by another call to Barry at 2:03am. (R. p. 37-38). Angela agreed that she told the 911 operator approximately four different stories as to how the gunshot occurred. (R. p. 121-122) Specifically, Angela's comments about the accident include stating that: 1) it was an accident; 2) it was a stray bullet; 3) it was a ricochet; and 4) that the dog jumped on Appellant and the gun went

---

<sup>1</sup> Their texting was via a cellphone app called "Snapchat". (R. p. 74).

<sup>2</sup> Angela had not mentioned this vehicle to law enforcement or the solicitor in advance of trial. (R. p. 105).

off. (State's Exhibit #19, at 0:28; at 0:32; at 0:45; at 7:55). *She conceded that Appellant had never told her that the dog jumped in his lap*<sup>3</sup>, nor did he tell her that it was an accident, or that he shot her. He only told her that it was a stray bullet. (R. p. 121). She conceded that she made up the other stories. (R. p. 122-123). Her 911 call also provided a description of Appellant's clothing, describing him as wearing a black t-shirt and/or black shorts. (State's Exhibit #19, at 5:48-6:52). However, Appellant was clearly wearing a blue t-shirt and grey shorts once detained and brought in for questioning.<sup>4</sup> Moreover, Appellant claimed that he never went back into the home except for the purpose of turning on the porch light for officers to see. (R. p. 144; 281); (State's Exhibit #58, at 23:54-25:10).

Officers Bolt and Morris responded to the scene at 2:10am, followed shortly after by EMS personnel. (R. p. 87-88). Officer Bolt testified that Appellant did not appear to have blood on his clothes or his hands. (R. p. 182). However, Appellant stated during questioning that he assisted in holding a towel to Victim's head that night, and that he never washed his hands prior to law enforcement's arrival. (State's Exhibit #58, at 27:50-28:20). The officers were forced to detain Appellant because he became confrontational and refused to abide their instructions to leave the shed – a necessary step to secure the scene so that EMS could proceed. (R. p. 175). Appellant also resisted his detention when he swung his arm at Officer Bolt in an effort to avoid being handcuffed. (R. p. 175).

No gun was found in the shed. Instead, a gun was found in the cabinet above the washing machine inside the home. (R. p. 204). Appellant ultimately admitted to moving the gun from the

---

<sup>3</sup> Though Appellant claimed he did not know how the shooting occurred, the dog jumping and somehow discharging the firearm would *later* be the story that Appellant most consistently stuck to during his interview with law enforcement at the station. (State's Exhibit #58, at 18:50-19:50; at 49:38 – 49:55; at 50:10-51:00).

<sup>4</sup> The washing machine contained damp clothing for an adult male. (R. p. 204).

shed to the cabinet. (State's Exhibit #58, at 39:10-39:30; at 44:15-45:25). DNA testing from the gun showed strong likelihood ratios for Appellant, Victim, and an unidentified third person as DNA contributors. (R. p. 164). The gun also had fresh blood on it. (R. p. 295). Law enforcement recovered a single shell casing from inside the shed. Analysis demonstrated that this shell casing was fired by the gun recovered from the cabinet. (R. p. 233; p. 344; p. 369). Both Angela and Appellant tested positive for the presence of gunshot residue. (R. p. 383).

Testimony at trial revealed that Victim was right-handed. (R. p. 18). However, the autopsy of Victim's wound demonstrated that the bullet struck her head from behind her left ear and exited out the front right portion of her head. (R. p. 311). Forensic pathologist, Dr. Grace Dukes, concluded that Victim's wound was not a "contact wound", as there were no tears in the entrance wound, no soot residue, and no burns. (R. p. 304-306). She further concluded that Victim's wound was not the result of a close-range gunshot, as there was no evidence of stippling indicative of shots fired within 2-3 feet of the victim. (R. p. 309-310). Dr. Dukes testified that in light of the nature of the gunshot wound, the absence of the firearm at the scene, and the lack of suicidal ideation in Victim's past, she concluded that Victim's death was the result of homicide, not suicide. (R. p. 303-304).

Also pertinent to the case, Appellant at one point during his interview claimed that after he and Victim were awoken by the gunshot, that "we came up together . . . she was straight then". However, when he returned from looking for the dog, he saw that she had been shot. (State's Exhibit #58, at 20:50-21:45). At the end of his interview, Appellant became angered by law enforcement's questioning and reacts by flipping over the table in front of him and yelling: "I didn't kill the bitch." (State's Exhibit #58, at 56:10-56:30).

### ISSUE AS IT WAS PRESENTED AT TRIAL

Defense counsel sought to question Dr. Dukes about Victim's toxicology report and that Victim had drugs in her system. (R. p. 317-318). This drew an objection from the State and the jury was excused so as to argue the issue. At trial there was an apparent miscommunication between assistant solicitor Johnson and defense counsel. (R. p. 318). The assistant solicitor noted that she and defense counsel had agreed not to mention any drug use from the night of the crime, be it from witnesses, the Victim, or Appellant. The assistant solicitor argued that defense counsel had not established a chain of evidence and foundation for the drug evidence, and that the questioning was an attempt to get Victim's drug use in through the back door. (R. p. 319). Defense counsel believed the agreement was reached to only preclude such testimony concerning the drug use by his client, but that Victim's toxicology report was not part of the agreement. (R. p. 319).

The defense first suggests that the evidence is relevant to combat the lack of close-range gunshot evidence from the pathologist, and that DNA evidence shows the possibility that Victim manipulated the gun and magazine, which could have taken place while Appellant was asleep. (R. p. 319-320). The defense postures such evidence as suggesting Victim "might not have, in her normal state of mind, done something crazy like this, but, you know, she's under the influence. She may have done something to herself." (R. p. 320, lines 8-10). The trial court responded by asking what proof exists that Victim was "under the influence", to which defense counsel could only point to the positive test for methamphetamines. He then conceded that she may not be "under the influence, but she at least had methamphetamines in her system." (R. p. 320, lines 19-22). Defense counsel then explained that he is not attempting to ask the pathologist if Victim was under the influence, only that she tested positive for methamphetamine, and that "maybe [she] was using meth, maybe she was under the influence of it, maybe she did something to herself accidentally."

(R. p. 321, lines 1-6). The court understood, but noted that defense counsel was falling short of demonstrating some kind of proof that Victim was under the influence in a way that would cause her to do something resulting in self-harm; relying on just the positive test for meth would be insufficient for defense counsel's proposed purpose. (R. p. 321, lines 7-16). Defense counsel further mentioned drug paraphernalia at the scene and argued the evidence is relevant because drugs could suggest the possibility she harmed herself, but conceded that he could not say whether or not she was under the influence and cannot even establish when Victim had last used drugs. (R. p. 321, line 17 through p. 322, line 4).

In response, the assistant solicitor argued that defense counsel had not clarified the need for a proper foundation and chain, and that reference to the DNA on the gun lacks any direct link to drug use. He further argued that defense counsel can already establish that Victim could have manipulated the gun at some point, but that reference to drug use is simply trying to use a back door to paint Victim as a drug addict. (R. p. 322).

The court concluded that in the absence of evidence that Victim was under the influence, or when the drugs were consumed, or even how much meth was consumed, defense counsel's argument is merely speculation that cannot make the leap to show potential self-harm. The court ruled that such an argument lacks relevancy, runs afoul of Rule 403 such that unfair prejudice would substantially outweigh the probative value of the evidence, and appears to be a backdoor effort for character evidence in violation of Rule 404. (R. p. 323, line 10 through p. 328, line 23). The trial court even noted that the witnesses present that night all indicated that Victim and Appellant were in a good mood, that the night appeared to be a good night of fun, and that if some issue existed with Victim being under the influence of meth, it would have come out with those witnesses. (R. p. 325, line 16 through p. 326, line 3). The trial court therefore sustained the

objection and would not permit any examination on the issue. (R. p. 328).

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” SCRE 401. “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” SCRE 403. “Evidentiary rulings are within the sound discretion of the trial court, and such rulings will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion or the commission of legal error that prejudices the defendant.” *State v. Garner*, 389 S.C. 61, 65, 697 S.E.2d 615, 617 (Ct. App. 2010). An abuse of discretion “means nothing more or less than that the ruling of the trial court was without reasonable factual support, resulted in prejudice to the rights of appellant, and therefore, in the circumstances, amounted to error of law.” *Bridges v. Wyandotte Worsted Co.*, 239 S.C. 37, 40, 121 S.E.2d 300, 302 (1961).

“The trial judge is given broad discretion in ruling on questions concerning the relevancy of evidence, and his decision will be reversed only if there is a clear abuse of discretion.” *State v. Alexander*, 303 S.C. 377, 401 S.E.2d 146 (1991) (citing *State v. Jeffcoat*, 279 S.C. 167, 303 S.E.2d 855 (1983)). A trial court’s rulings pursuant to a 403 balancing test are subject to an abuse of discretion standard and great deference is given to the trial court’s decision. *State v. Myers*, 359 S.C. 40, 48, 596 S.E.2d 488, 492 (2004). “A trial judge’s balancing decision under Rule 403 should not be reversed simply because an appellate court believes it would have decided the matter otherwise because of a differing view of the highly subjective factors of the probative value or the prejudice presented by the evidence.” *State v. Hamilton*, 344 S.C. 344, 358, 543 S.E.2d 586, 594

(Ct. App. 2001), overruled on other grounds by *State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005) (citing *United States v. Long*, 574 F.2d 761 (3d Cir.1978)). A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in "exceptional circumstances." *Hamilton*, at 593 (citing *United States v. Green*, 887 F.2d 25, 27 (1st Cir.1989)).

### ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding evidence and testimony of Victim's toxicology report inadmissible under Rule 401 and 403, where the record provided no indication Victim was under the influence of drugs and that Appellant's arguments of Victim's possible self-harm due to drug use were entirely speculative.**

The trial court was well within its discretion to exclude evidence and questioning in regard to Victim's toxicology report under Rules 401 and 403. Appellant was unable to establish through any evidence or record facts that Victim was under the influence of methamphetamine at the time of the gunshot, was unable to demonstrate when Victim might have used drugs prior to the gunshot, and likewise could not establish Victim demonstrated behavior that might support the possibility she posed a risk of accidental or intentional self-harm. Appellant's basis for seeking to admit the evidence was entirely speculative, tended to paint Victim as drug addict, and would do no more than suggest a verdict on an improper basis. The evidence was properly excluded by the court.

It is well established that a trial court's decisions regarding relevancy and Rule 403 balancing are afforded great deference, and that such cannot be overturned simply due to a reviewing court concluding that it would have weighed evidence differently. *Hamilton*, 543 S.E.2d at 594. On the basis of this standard, and in light of the record, the trial court was well within its discretion to balance the evidence as it did and exclude evidence and questioning regarding Victim's toxicology report. However, the admissibility of a victim's toxicology report is not a

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